1998

Karl I. Truman v. William M. Dalton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a Judgment of Dismissal entered by the Sixth Judicial District Court, Honorable David L. Mower, Judge on April 13, 1998. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal under §78-2a-3(2)(j), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Can a debt collection agency¹ to which the debt is assigned forgive without consideration a portion of the assigned debt and bind the creditor inasmuch as the assignment authorizes the agency to compromise?

B. Does a denial by debtor that the claimed amount of the debt is not due (excessive) create a dispute upon which an accord (for satisfaction) can be predicated for absence of liquidation?

¹Recognized: Title 12, Chapter 1, U.C.A. 1953.

C. Does a dispute only in the method or rate of interest payable constitute the type of dispute that makes the debt unliquidated?

Standard of Review

The standard of review for summary judgment (in this case equivalent of a non-suit under Rule 41(b), U.R.C.P.) is that the Appellate Court is to accept the material allegations of the non-moving party's pleading as true and the trial court's ruling should be affirmed only if it clearly appears that the non-moving party can prove no set of facts to support a cause of action. (Colman vs. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 [Utah 1990])

Similarly, in reviewing a grant of summary judgment under Rule 56 (or a non-suit) an appellate court may reverse the trial court only if "there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law in which event the case comes to the appellate court presenting only issues of law" and the appellate court will accord the decision of the trial court no deference but will review that decision for correctness. (State vs. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 [Utah 1994])

Issues for Appeal Reserved in the Trial Court

The rights of the Plaintiff-Appellant were reserved for appeal by allegations in his complaint which stated a cause of action dismissed after presenting the case in chief.

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS**

Title 12, Chapter 1, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Karl I. Truman ("Truman") was a creditor who assigned by contract a debt due Truman from Dalton in the amount of \$58,905.09 (Addendum 1). At the trial Truman produced a certified public accountant who testified to and laid a foundation for a summary under Rule 1006 of the Rules of Evidence showing that over \$50,000 (Ex. 37) was due at the commencement of the suit and at the time of trial using "very" [or "extremely"] (Tr. 27, Ex. D-7) "conservative (Tr. 23; 27) interest figures"², (Tr. 26). The 1-1/2% per month was not used but the I.R.S. guidelines were applied to show that an amount exceeding \$51,000 was still due at the time of trial (as well as the time the debt was assigned by Truman to Audit and Accounting). All payments made by Dalton were credited in the Summary (Tr. 26).

Appellee Audit and Accounting, imperiously asserting its unlimited contractual authority to compromise claims asserted that the proposed compromise was effectual. Truman assuming high trust in Audit and Accounting, (Addendum 1) approved a settlement of \$10,000 to be paid presently and \$10,000 to be paid in twelve monthly installments of \$833.33 (without adding any interest to the continuing unpaid installments). No consideration was given Truman or suffered by Dalton for the forgiveness.

The original creditor (Truman) lost approximately 75% of his present claim as a result of the assignment to the collection

²In this case the interest was not improper; it was decidedly lower than both (1) the legal rate; and (2) the rate provided in the invoices [1-1/2% per month].

agency (Audit and Accounting) and even if the contract for compromise was valid a provisional obligation of \$58,905.09 was compromised for \$20,000, half to be paid "up front" and the other half in monthly installments of \$833.33 for twelve months. [Truman to receive but one-half of that or \$5,000 over a period of time.]

**NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS
AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW**

In this case Truman's (the Creditor's) complaint as inferred above was dismissed at the end of Truman's case by a Summary Judgment or a non-suit under Rule 41(b), U.R.C.P. (Tr. 50-53).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1992 Appellant Karl I. Truman ("Truman") assigned to a collection agency, Appellee Audit and Accounting an open account for goods³ sold to Appellee William M. Dalton ("Dalton") under a course of dealing running for years [unnumbered] but at least through June 6, 1992 (the "Debt"). The Debt was understood as between Audit and Accounting and Truman to be \$58,905.09 (Addendum 1). Audit and Accounting proceeded with a demand letter for that amount to Dalton (Ex. D-29; Addendum 2). Dalton duplicitously denied the amount as (1) being too high, or whether or not high, (2) interest was illegally compounded. (Ex. D-30; Addendum 3) The record shows that, using simple interest at

³§70A-2-105(1)

I.R.S. rates as a guideline⁴, and though the invoices for goods mostly all were signed the actual balance was far in excess of \$20,000 even far more than what Dalton acknowledged was due (Tr. 27; confirmed by Audit and Accounting - Addendum 3). With little persuasion Audit and Accounting inveigled Dalton (please see Addenda 3 and 4) we concede (or assert) that Dalton and Audit and Accounting conspired (with obstructionism) that there was an interest or principal differential (Ex. D-30, D-34 and D-35 annexed hereto as Addenda 3, 4 and 5).

Thus, Audit and Accounting agreed with Dalton that there was a dispute and since the amount "could be compromised" under the debt-collection assignment contract, Audit and Accounting negotiated a compromise in which Dalton and Audit and Accounting agreed to a total liability of \$20,000, \$10,000 at first and twelve monthly payments of \$833.33 (the equivalent of \$10,000) without any interest on the deferred \$10,000 which move would wind up the affair (Ex. D-35). Dalton paid the \$10,000. (Ex. D-36) Of that \$10,000 the Audit and Accounting gave Truman \$5,000 as Truman's contractual share (Tr. 40).

Truman admits that he contracted to assign and did lawfully assign the debt, as is possible under the Utah Debt Collection Act (Chapter 1, Title 12, U.C.A. 1953); Audit and Accounting to receive one-half of the amount collected and Truman also agreed that Audit and Accounting could compromise the claim

⁴The invoices all called for interest at 1-1/2% per month (Tr. 29 lines 17-19).

on any reasonable basis (Addendum 1). When the payments (at least those to Truman) ceased, Truman repudiated the debt-assigning contract because among the first monthly obligations Dalton had defaulted and Truman demanded a return of the right to collect (the account) back from Audit and Accounting to Truman. There is evidence that this occurred yet there is a letter refusing Truman's request to return the account (debt) to Truman (Ex. D-25 through D-29).

Whether or not Truman repudiated his debt assignment contract the payments stopped coming but the checks that were paid for the monthly \$833.33 were divided by Audit and Accounting retaining one-half and in one case when the monthly payment was in default Audit and Accounting obtained an attorney to collect the payment. The attorney charged \$150 and Audit and Accounting assigned the cost of the attorney's legal work to the putative one-half interest of Truman, sending him \$266.66 (one-half of \$833.33 minus the \$150) remaining unforgiven indebtedness (Ex. D-16; Addendum 8) For some time not specified in the record, checks for \$416.60 were sent to Truman who returned the checks or at least failed to negotiate them. (Admitted by Truman in the pleadings.)

Truman filed this action which was tried to the court on March 30, 1998 (without a jury). At the end of Truman's case, the evidence to Truman; stood totally: (1) a CPA's summary of the account calculated, that \$50,482.07 was due to Truman; and (2) as acknowledged by both Audit and Accounting and Dalton that

all the raw data consisting of the invoices supporting the CPA summary under Rule 1006 was in court. Proofs (1) and (2) were admitted into evidence as Exhibit 37 (Tr. 37).

The court treated the Defendants-Appellees' response as a motion to dismiss and consequently a ruling on a summary judgment by and for both Defendants, not necessarily under Rule 41(b) but in any event validating the written contract, giving to Audit and Accounting authority to compromise the debt.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A collection agency acquired an assignment of a merchant's delinquent account assumed to be \$58,905.09 with authority given to collection agency to compromise the amount of indebtedness if indebtedness could be reasonably satisfied.

Audit and Accounting compromised what was really a debt, calculated by the CPA summary (under Evidence Rule 1006) to exceed \$50,000 without incorporating the invoice-recited interest, for \$20,000: \$10,000 up-front and twelve monthly installments of \$833.33.

The admitted residue after the \$20,000 was forgiven by agreement between the collection agency and the debtor with no consideration for the reduction but for the stated reason to advance (hurry up) collection.

Collection agency (Audit and Accounting) was, by the assignment contract, creditor's fiduciary.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A DEBT CANNOT BE PARTIALLY FORGIVEN WITHOUT CONSIDERATION.

The trial court admitted Exhibit 37 (Tr. 37), a summary prepared by CPAs Morris and Morris showing all activity on the open account for farm supplies, feed, seed and equipment, large and small (Tr. 38). The accountant testified that the interest rate was "reasonable" as being among the lowest of all barometers recognized in its tradition. The CPA testified that he did not carefully canvass each invoice but those which he did see at large all contained a signature either by Dalton or someone acting for him. The CPA did not offer a summary calculating interest either on a compounded or a 1-1/2% monthly interest basis (Tr. 29, lines 17-19). Truman offered and there was admitted in evidence that which is simple interest at the I.R.S. rates. There was no reason for the parties to dissimulate a dispute. No consideration for the amounts given by Audit and Accounting was shown; therefore, Truman should be able to pursue the balance. (Sugarhouse Finance Company vs. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369 [Utah 1980]) The trial court should have regarded the compromise by Dalton to be invalid for lack of consideration.

POINT II

A DISPUTE REGARDING INTEREST AND THE RATE OF CALCULATION OF INTEREST DOES NOT CREATE A DISPUTE JUSTIFYING AN ACCORD.

In the case of Burns vs. Northern Pacific RY Co., (CCA Minn. 134 F.2d 766, 770) it is held:

A person cannot create a "dispute" [in interest calculations] sufficient as consideration for compromise for a mere refusal to pay an undisputed claim.

A "dispute" as a basis for an action exists only where there is a matter of either law or fact asserted on one side and denied on the other. (In re: Robin, et al. Binette, 300 N.W. 798, 799, 211 Minn. 223 [Minn. 1943]) Interest is excluded in the computation.

A "dispute" to invoke the doctrine of accord and satisfaction must be an honest, genuine, or bona fide dispute advancing in good faith and resting on the substantial basis, or founded on some reasonable, tenable, or plausible ground, but the dispute must be in fact an honest, not untenable claim but based upon solid foundation and there must be some justification therefor and not a mere arbitrary refusal to pay. (Modern Dust Bag Co. vs. Commercial Trust Co., Ct. Chancery Del. 104 A.2d 378, 380, 381 [Del. 1954])

Within the rule that a promise by a creditor, having a liquidated and undisputed demand against his debtor which is wholly due and payable, who discharges the residue upon receiving payment of a part is *nudum pactum*, a demand is not a disputed demand merely because a debtor refuses to pay or recognize it.

The reason for this is clearly stated by language in the following case that:

If this [view recognizing dispute as to the amount due as the basis of an accord] were true no case would ever arise for the application of the rule. It is disputed, within the meaning of the rule only, when it is so far disputable as

to present a proper case for litigation.
(Chicago M. & St. P. RY Co. vs. Clark, 92 F 968,
985, 835 CCA 120; Tuttle vs. Tuttle, 53 Mass. 46
AM D.C. 701 [1899])

POINT III

TRUMAN'S CPA MANIFESTED THAT A PRIMA FACIE CASE WAS MADE.

Exhibit 37 was admitted by the Court (Tr. 36). The summary (Ex. 37 consisting of four pages) demonstrates the following:

1. On the first page of the summary admitted under Rule 1006 of the Utah Rules of Evidence begins March 13, 1990 when Dalton had "cleared off" his account and made his initial charge of \$107.32.

It is notable that the summary is absolute, unchallenged, compact and comprehensive.

2. In the left hand column is the date of every invoice.

3. In the second column is the number of every invoice (demonstrating without objection by the party that the raw data was all available).

4. The third column shows the amount charged.

5. The fourth column shows sales tax (farm products are not subject to sales tax [§59-2-1101; §59-12-104(a)(b)]).

6. The fifth column shows credits or payments.

7. The sixth column shows the balance (\$50,482.07; p. 4 of the Summary).

8. The seventh column shows that interest is only

calculated at the end of the year (the only entry on page 2 of Ex. 37 is dated 12-31-90). It continues to be remarkable because of its obvious completeness, incisiveness, compact and comprehensive accuracy. On the last page of Exhibit 37 the certified public accountant has shown the total of all invoices and sales tax, the total of all payments and credits, adds interest at the conservative rate as demonstrated hereinabove, and shows an ending balance of \$51,988.07.

POINT IV

THE CREDIT AGENCY AGREEMENT CONSTITUTED A FIDUCIARY TRUST WHICH WAS CONVERTED AS A CHOSE-IN-ACTION.

A collection agency under a written contract is *ipso facto* a fiduciary and Audit and Accounting, having willfully aborted the process of pursuing collection and refusing to reassign the indebtedness to creditor created a tortious conversion obligating Audit and Accounting to make the creditor (Truman) whole.

The credit agency agreement constituted a fiduciary trust the principal of which was tortiously converted as a chose-in-action. A breach of the fiduciary relationship is a tort and conversion thus giving Truman a direct right of action against Audit and Accounting, the collection agency, for conversion of his claim making Audit and Accounting liable for payment of the entire amount due by reason of frustration of the process and retention in their so-called "trust-account" (Tr. 56).

A fiduciary has a responsibility to go forward with the

proof. The summary judgment (Rule 41(b), U.R.C.P. non-suit) is not sufficient to carry the affirmative defenses of either party (the Appellees jointly).

In the case of Burk vs. Peter (115 U 58, 202 P.2d 543 [1949]) this Court said in a promissory note case that:

***There is no necessity under the pleadings for plaintiff to do more than present the note in evidence. Having done so, the burden would shift to defendant to present evidence in support of his affirmative defense of no consideration.

In Reid vs. Mutual of Omaha Insurance Co. (776 P.2d 896 [Utah 1989]):

***[Mutual] has a burden of marshalling the supporting evidence and then demonstrating that the trial court's finding on this point lacks adequate record support under the clearly erroneous standard. (In re: Estate of Bartell, 776 P.2d 885 [Utah 1989]; State vs. Mitchell, 769 P.2d 817 [Utah 1989]; Scharf vs. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 [Utah 1985])

Rather, the bank only disputed the corporation's damage claim while the bank did have the burden of going forward with the evidence to show that plaintiff's harm was not as great ***.

***It did not carry a 'burden of proof' because it was not asserting an affirmative defense.

Marshalling the defendant's evidence.

"Every scrap" (Pena supra) of the opposition's evidence must be marshalled. We marshal the evidence for them:

1. The debt collection guarantee of June 4, 1992 showing an amount due from Dalton to Truman was \$58,905.09 to the debt collection guarantee (Addendum 1) specifically giving the collection agency the authority to compromise any claim.

2. The claim was distinctly compromised (Ex. D-35).

3. We will admit that Dalton paid everything that Dalton agreed to pay to the collection agency Audit and Accounting, first the \$10,000 (\$5,000 of which Audit and Accounting retained) and payments of \$833.33 per month commencing on the 15th day of October, 1992 for twelve consecutive months, interest free for a total account settlement of \$20,000 (Ex. D-36).

4. Dalton and Audit and Accounting, in combination or at the very prudent and honorable performance of Judge J. Harlan Burns (retired) every check was admitted in evidence as Exhibits D-1, D-21 through D-28, D-38 and D-39. Some were missing but we acknowledge that Dalton paid all twelve of the checks; paid however to Audit and Accounting which retained (most of) the same in its "trust account" (Tr. 56). We respectfully and willingly submit that the evidence presented by the Defendants-Appellees and particularly Dalton performed according to the compromise agreement.

POINT V

THE CASES ARE UNIFORM THAT MATHEMATICAL CALCULATIONS CAN TOTALLY LIQUIDATE A CLAIM.

It is fundamental that there is no consideration where a dispute only as to amount due is used as a predicate for a creditor to forgive a portion of the debt, Sugarhouse Finance Company v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369 (Utah 1980).

If an account can be exactly determined by application of rules of arithmetic a debtor's obligation payment of a part of

the creditor's invoices will not render an amount and the basis of an Accord and Satisfaction to be liquidated, Air Van Lines Inc. v. Buster, 673 P.2d 774 (Alaska 1983).

Under the Utah case of Marton Remodeling v. Jensen, 706 P.2d 607 (Utah 1985) there must be some dispute other than that one party's arithmetic is different from the others where arithmetic calculations can be made with precise accuracy.

In the case of a liquidated claim or demand, some consideration for an asserted release of the unpaid balance must be made (or paid) and a part payment of a lesser sum cannot support an alleged accord, Clark Leasing Corporation v. White Sands Forest Products Inc., 535 P.2d 1077 87 N.M. 451 (1975).

Where a claim is for a definite and undisputed amount which is past due, an agreement by the creditor to take a lesser amount, which is paid, does not discharge the whole debt, as the creditor receives only a portion of what he is entitled to and there is no consideration for a new agreement, F.M.A. Financial Corp. v. Build Inc., 404 P.2d 670; 17 Utah 2d 80 (1965).

A liquidated claim is one which can be determined with exactness from the agreement between the parties or by arithmetical process, AmJur2d Vol. 1 p. 474, Accord and Satisfaction §7. If the amount due is calculable upon investigation the claim is liquidated and therefore not the basis for an accord and satisfaction, Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. Richter, 49 P.2d 94 at p. 96. (Okla. 1935).

The universal rule is that where a claim or demand is

liquidated the payment of only part of the debt affords no consideration for an agreement by the creditor to discharge the unpaid residue or balance of the debt. Corpus Juris Secundum, Vol 1, Pg. 507, Accord and Satisfaction §37.

The payment of a part of a debt does not discharge it, even though the debtor exacts a promise that it will do so. The debtor, by making part payment is doing nothing more than he is legally obligated to do and therefore he gives the creditor no consideration for the promise that part payment will be accepted to discharge the entire debt, Allen-Howe Specialties v. U.S. Const. Inc., 611 P.2d 705, 710 (Utah 1980).

POINT VI

**FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP OF AUDIT AND ACCOUNTING
WAS SEVERELY BREACHED RESPECTING CREDITOR
TRUMAN.**

**A. THE FAILURE OF AUDIT AND ACCOUNTING, THE
PRINCIPAL DEFENDANT-APPELLEE AND THE REAL
TARGET OF THIS ACTION COMMITTED ABSTRUSE
BUT VIOLENT BREACH OF A HIGH DEGREE OF
TRUST AND CONFIDENCE.**

In this case one would have expected to see either a witness who would testify to the fact, a document which would manifest the fact, or a non-existent but in the natural order of human nature that Audit and Accounting was not deficient; in the following absolutes:

1. Audit and Accounting neither pleaded in its answer or what would probably have required a defense [affirmative] of confession and avoidance.

2. There is no evidence to be found where Truman was

ever consulted before he received the first pathetic \$5,000 of a \$50,000+ obligation due him. Ten (10%) percent of all he could hope to get before the compromise was even dissimulated, let alone contractually-integrated to reduce the \$50,000 debt to a \$20,000 compromised settlement (please see Addendum 3).

3. There is nothing in the record to show that when the \$5,000 was submitted to Truman that this represented anything other than just an installment to demonstrate with pride Audit and Accounting's tenacious pursuit of the Dalton debt.

4. Five thousand (\$5,000) dollars would come as a relative shock having an expectation that his entire \$50,000+ was methodically a great expectation of which he would receive no less than \$25,000 [when the maximum he could have received was only one-half \$10,000, of his share the present value of which was \$4,737.50]. A small thing (the lower "present value") but demonstrative.

5. Audit and Accounting's Fiduciary - an institution of trust and confidence - never did plead any answer (Tr. 15; 20-25) or assert an affirmative defense necessarily required by Rule 9, U.R.C.P. to show avoidance of a confessed debt.

Audit and Accounting knew that the beneficiary of the fiduciary trust would automatically interpret the conduct as evidence of a radical compromise of his assigned (given away) debt.

6. Addendum 1, the debt-assuming instrument, begins with a self-defined Code of Ethics. At the time Truman received

the first \$5,000 he had the right to fear: (a) that might be all he could get; (b) that was one-tenth of what he would (should) get; (c) that the legal rate of interest would not be enforced against Dalton on any deferred payment; (d) we have got to hang our heads and admit that the payment of \$5,000 without any explanation should have given immediate rise to an obligation and redress of loss of Truman to mitigate his damages. There is no evidence that Truman was even ever given copies of at least five letters (Ex. D-29, D-33, D-34 and D-35 attached as Addenda 2, 7, 4 and 5).

B. WHEN IT WAS A SETTLED COMPROMISE THERE IS NOTHING TO SHOW WHAT TRUMAN COULD EXPECT.

In the way of monthly - or any other periodic - follow-up Truman would have at least known the need to consult an attorney but there was no reason to do that because the documents sent to Truman showed that he was "represented by an attorney" because he was billed and he paid for the entire amount of attorneys' fees out of his thus-diminished amount of the expectation of continuing payments.

We recognize that we did not plead the opposite of an affirmative defense against Dalton or Audit and Accounting nor did we hint nor suggest that they file one. We did serve, and following the rule, file a certificate that interrogatories had been asked which inquire into these subjunctives.

CONCLUSION

An almost astonishing series of events occurred since June 4, 1992, the date of the debt assignment (Addendum 1). This

document recites the total debt to be \$58,905.09.

A. June 10, 1992 ALERT LETTER FROM Audit and Accounting to Dalton putting a demand on Dalton for \$58,905.09 [the amount in the debt assignment] (Ex. D-29; Addendum 2).

B. June 23, 1992 (Ex. D-30; Addendum 3) Audit and Accounting advises Dalton's attorney that "our accounting department totaled all of the outstanding and unpaid invoices of Dalton Farms, many signed and many unsigned. We totally omitted any and all interest and service charge figures and calculations, adding principal amounts only, resulting in a total amount due of \$62,117.55." This letter, from Truman's trustor urges Dalton to establish evidence to diminish the true balance.

C. June 26, 1992 (Ex. D-32) a letter from J. Harlan Burns, attorney for Dalton, to Audit and Accounting stating that he has had an accountant review each invoice and added interest and that at a rate of 18.5% and the maximum amount owing is \$5,245.86. "Please send me the basis of your accounting that would substantiate a balance of \$62,117.55. I will send you our accounting as soon as I have it in type-written form."

D. The letter of June 29, 1992 (Ex. D-33; Addendum 7) is a surreptitious letter from Audit and Accounting to Dalton's attorney stating that they have

***delivered two (2) packets containing photocopies of the delinquent outstanding and unpaid invoices to Minersville Feed by your client Bill Dalton.

These invoices totaled \$62,117.55 principal only, excluding any and all interest or service charges. We have not received any proof of

payments to substantiate your client's disputation of this amount of \$62,117.55, and therefore must assume that it is a correct figure.

To avoid enforcement of payment by Billy Dalton Farms by litigation, we need to make a settlement and conclude this matter immediately. Please respond with evidences of credits and payments which my client (Audit and Accounting) has not credited to Dalton and a cash settlement offer within 10 days to avoid civil action. (Addendum 7)

E. The August 5, 1992 letter (Ex. D-20) to Truman stating that there is a discrepancy of \$58,905.09 which must be either in interest and/or payments which have not been credited or that they have credited too many payments. "It looks like we have Billy Dalton and Harlan Burns on the run, let's keep it up and respond as soon as possible if you can. If you have questions call me at 1-800-974-4341."

F. The August 14, 1992 letter (Ex. D-34; Addendum 4) from Dalton's attorney is a writing of curiosity stating that "a copy of the painstaking rehabilitation of the account based upon your invoices and the proper simple interest charged at the legal rate. You will notice without going back into the old account for the proper legal credits, the current amount reveals a balance owing of \$25,130.92 ***." The second item contained in this letter is an unethical offer of settlement *** the amount of \$20,000. a. \$10,000 in fifteen days from when your written acceptance of the settlement offer. b. \$10,000 within one year from the date of your acceptance of the settlement offer." (Ex. D-34) No copy to Truman.

G. August 18, 1992 (Ex. D-35; Addendum 5) is the indicative date of Audit and Accounting's letter to Joseph Harlan Burns, Esq., attorney for Dalton setting out method of paying the \$20,000 (\$10,000 by September 5, 1992; and \$833.33 paid on the 15th of each month beginning October 15th for twelve consecutive months interest free).