1998

Karl I. Truman v. William M. Dalton, Audit and Accounting Authority, Ltd. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Appellant, Karl I. Truman, (hereinafter referred to as Truman) commenced this action in the district court seeking to set aside a settlement between Truman's assignee of an account for collection, Audit and Accounting Authority, Ltd. (AAA) and William M. Dalton (Dalton), the debtor. The case was tried to the court on March 30, 1998. At the close of Plaintiff's case, both Defendants moved for a judgment of dismissal. The court granted the motion and entered its judgment of dismissal. From this judgment, Plaintiff Truman appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1992, Truman assigned an account for collection in the claimed amount of \$58,905.09 against Dalton to AAA pursuant to a written assignment, a copy of which is Addendum 1 to Truman's brief. (Tr. 43). That assignment gave AAA full discretion to settle the account.

AAA sent a demand for that amount to Dalton. (Exhibit D-29, Addendum 2 to Truman's brief).

During the course of correspondence and negotiation, Dalton, through counsel, asserted that the indebtedness was no more than \$5,245.86 (Exhibit D-27). He also asserted that even with improper charges, interest, and compounding of interest the balance is no more than \$25,130.92. (Exhibit D-34).

A settlement agreement was reached between AAA and Dalton (Exhibit D-35, Addendum 5 to Truman's brief) and Dalton paid the agreed sum. (Admitted at page 33 of Truman's brief)

As the payments were made, AAA took its 50% commission and forwarded 50% to Truman who cashed the first several checks. (Tr. 40).

After rejecting the last several checks and demanding reassignment of the collection account, Truman commenced this action.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant's brief does not comply with rule 24 (a) (5), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. There are no proper citations to the record nor does it properly set forth the standard of review. The only claim for preserving the issues for appeal is that they were raised in the pleadings.

Truman has failed to marshal the evidence which supports the trial court's ruling. He makes no reference to the evidence that the debt was disputed. For that reason alone, the trial court must be affirmed on that issue.

The evidence supports the trial court's ruling. Truman failed to show that there was no dispute or that there was no separate consideration. Absent those showings, he was not entitled to relief. The law favors settlement of disputes. The elements of a proper settlement were present.

Appellee AAA should be awarded its attorneys fees for this appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: APPELLANT'S BRIEF DOES NOT COMPLY WITH RULE 24 (a) (5), UTAH RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE.

Rule 24 (a) (5), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires: "A statement of the issues presented for review, including for each issue: the standard of appellate review with supporting authority; and (A) citation to the record showing the issue was preserved in the trial court; or (B) a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court." Truman's Statement of the Issues Presented for Review contains not a single citation to the record nor a single assertion of the standard of review with supporting authority within the list of issues. Following the Statement of Issues under subheadings are sections entitled Standard of Review and Issues for Appeal Reserved in the Trial Court.

Truman's claim of having preserved the issues in the trial court rests on his assertion that they were "... reserved for appeal by allegations in his complaint ...". Utah law is clear that allegations in a complaint are not sufficient to preserve an issue for appeal when the party has been heard at trial and that the Court of Appeals will not address such issues without a showing that they were adequately preserved at trial. Mills v. Brody, 929 P.2d 360, 364 (Utah App. 1997). Mere mention of the issue in the pleadings is insufficient. LeBaron & Assoc. v. Rebel Enterprises, 823 P.2d 479, 482 (Utah App. 1991) Since there is no citation to the record showing that the issues were preserved, the judgment below should be affirmed.

POINT II: TRUMAN HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE WHICH SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING.

The trial court specifically found that the amount of the debt was in dispute. The trial judge, in pronouncing his ruling from the bench when granting the motion to dismiss at the end of Plaintiff's evidence said "I think they acted in his behalf and settled the disputed claim." (Tr. 63) and "I think it was a disputed claim." (Tr. 64). The conclusions of law state: "2. The claim assigned by Plaintiff to Defendant AAA against Defendant Dalton was a disputed claim." (R. 49). In the section of Truman's brief headed "Marshalling the defendant's evidence" there is no mention of any of the evidence that the amount of the debt was in dispute.

Truman failed to mention his own testimony that he had received a letter notifying him of Dalton's claim as to the amount owed. (Tr. 50). The exhibit about which he testified indicated that the true amount owing was no more than \$5,245.86. (Exhibit D-27). The discrepancy in amounts makes it clear that the dispute is over more than interest or mathematical calculations, since Truman's evidence was that the face amount of the unpaid invoices was \$30,482.11. (Exhibit P-37, addendum 7 to Truman's brief). He also fails to mention Exhibit D-34 in which Dalton, through counsel notifies AAA that even with improper charges, interest, and compounding of interest the balance is no more than \$25,130.92. There was evidence offered and admitted regarding the dispute as to the amount of the debt and none of it is mentioned in Truman's so called "Marshalling the defendant's evidence." For that reason alone, his attack on the court's finding must fail and the trial

court judgment should be affirmed. Robb v. Anderton, 868 P.2d 1322, 1328 (Utah App. 1993)

POINT III: THE LACK OF EVIDENCE MANDATED THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING.

Truman filed suit against AAA and Dalton asking the court to determine that the settlement agreement entered between them was invalid and not binding on him. In order to prevail he had to show that the amount of the indebtedness was not in dispute and that there was no consideration for the compromise. Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369 (Utah 1980) relied on by Truman and cited in his docketing statement as controlling states that where the underlying claim is disputed, payment of a compromise amount is sufficient consideration to support an accord and satisfaction. at 1372. Where the underlying claim is liquidated and certain as to amount, separate consideration is necessary to support the accord. *id* at 1372.

At trial, Truman failed to offer evidence that the amount of the debt was not in dispute and failed to offer evidence that there was no separate consideration. Truman testified that the invoices were unpaid. His accountant testified as to the amount owing based on the invoices and interest, assuming that they were all unpaid and owing. There was not one word of evidence to indicate whether Dalton admitted to receiving all the goods represented by the invoices or whether Dalton claimed payments that had not been credited. Neither was there evidence as to whether there had been consideration for the settlement. In fact the court found, even without the defendants having had an opportunity to present evidence, that

there was a dispute and indicated its belief that there was likely also separate consideration in the form of an agreement to avoid litigation. (Tr. 62). At the end of the Plaintiff's case he had failed to offer evidence that there a *bona fide* dispute was lacking to support the settlement agreement and he had failed to offer evidence that consideration was lacking. The trial court's dismissal was mandated by the lack of evidence and should be affirmed.

POINT IV: THE LAW FAVORS SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES.

"It is a basic rule that the law favors settlement of disputes." John Deere, Co. v. A&H Equipment, Inc., 876 P.2d 880, 883 (Utah App. 1994) citing Goodmansen v. Liberty Vending Sys., Inc., 866 P.2d 581, 584 (Utah App. 1993). "For a valid accord and satisfaction, a 'disagreement need not be well-founded, so long as it is in good faith.'" S&G, Inc. v. Intermountain Agency, 913 P.2d 735, 739 (Utah 1996) quoting Estate Landscape v. Mountain States, 844 P.2d 322, 326 (Utah 1992). Truman argues that based upon mathematical calculations, the dispute was not well founded. The dispute between Truman and Dalton was clearly over more than different mathematical calculations, but even if it weren't, there was not a scintilla of evidence that the dispute was not in good faith. "The final requirement for an accord and satisfaction is the creditor's acceptance of the payment." S&G, Inc., at 740. There is no dispute that the settlement amount was paid and accepted by AAA and that the first several payments were accepted by Truman. (Truman's brief, p. 13)